
1 
 

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE DISTRICT OF MASSACHUSETTS 

 
 
 
THOMAS O. FLOCK, et al. 
 
 Plaintiffs,       

 
Civil No. 14-CV-13040-FDS 

  v. 
 
 
UNITED STATES DEPARTMENT OF 
TRANSPORTATION, et al., 
 
 Defendants 
 
       
 

 

MEMORANDUM IN SUPPORT OF MOTION TO DISMISS 

 
 Defendants request that the Court dismiss the Complaint pursuant to Rules 12(b)(1) and 

(b)(6),  for lack of subject-matter jurisdiction and failure to state a claim upon which relief can be 

granted under the Privacy Act, 5 U.S.C. § 552a.   

INTRODUCTION 

 

Plaintiffs challenge the Federal Motor Carrier Safety Administration’s (FMCSA) 

interpretation and application of the authority granted to it under 49 U.S.C. § 31150.  The 

Complaint alleges that section 31150 prohibits the release of all “non-serious” safety violations 

by motor carrier drivers to prospective employers and that FMCSA violates the Privacy Act in 

making that information available upon specific request by a perspective employer.  Section 

31150 mandates the establishment of an electronic system to enable access to motor carrier 

driver safety records by persons conducting pre-employment screening.  The information is 

provided to FMCSA by the states, in connection with federal grants that support state efforts to 
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promote motor carrier safety.   The allegations of the Complaint fail to support a Privacy Act 

claim for two reasons.  First, Plaintiffs have failed to allege injury caused by FMCSA’s actions 

sufficient to establish their standing to sue the agency.  Second, there can be no Privacy Act 

violation where, as here, the agency releases the safety records of a motor carrier driver only 

with the driver’s consent and pursuant to the routine uses articulated in Statement of Records 

Notices that comply with Privacy Act requirements under 5 U.S.C. § 552a(b)(3).  

Under Chevron U.S.A., Inc. v. Natural Resources Defense Council, Inc., 467 U.S. 837 

(1984), and its progeny, this Court must defer to the agency’s reasonable interpretation of the 

scope of its statutory authority under Section 31150.  Section 31150 is one part of the Agency’s 

broad statutory authority “to establish programs to improve motor carrier, commercial motor 

vehicle, and driver safety to support a safety and efficient transportation system . . .” 49 U.S.C. 

Chapter 311 (Commercial Motor Vehicle Safety), 49 U.S.C § 31100, 31131 (Congressional 

Purpose and Findings).   

THE PRIVACY ACT  

The Privacy Act of 1974 governs the collection, maintenance, use, and dissemination of 

information about individuals by federal agencies such as the U.S. Department of Transportation 

(DOT). See 5 U.S.C. § 552a; F.A.A. v. Cooper, 132 S. Ct. 1441 (2012). The agencies may not 

disclose a record covered by the Act, “except pursuant to a written request by, or with the prior 

written consent of, the individual to whom the record pertains;” 5 U.S.C. § 552a(b); subject to a 

number of exceptions including disclosure of a record for a “routine use,” 5 U.S.C. § 552a(b)(3), 

or “for a purpose which is compatible with the purpose for which [the record] was collected,” 5 

U.S.C. § 552a(a)(7).  To be considered a “routine use,” an agency must publish in the Federal 

Register the “routine use,” including the “categories of users and the purpose of such use.” 5 
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U.S.C. § 552a(e)(4)(D).  If any agency releases personal information about an individual without 

the safeguard of either a written informed consent of the individual or consistent with a “routine 

use,” the individual may sue the agency if the agency “acted in a manner that was intentional or 

willful” and the individual suffered “actual damages as a result of the failure.”  5 U.S.C. 

§  552a(g)(4);  see FAA v. Cooper, 132 S. Ct. 1441, 1451-52 (2012); Doe v. Chao, 540 U.S. 616, 

620-21 (2004). 

FACTUAL BACKGROUND 

FMCSA is an agency within (DOT charged with maintaining “the highest degree of 

safety in motor carrier transportation.”  49 U.S.C. § 113(b).  To further this goal, FMCSA has 

promulgated (and updates) the Federal Motor Carrier Safety Regulations (FMCSR).  See 

generally 49 U.S.C. Chapter 311, e.g., 49 U.S.C.     §§ 31101, 31136, 31142; 49 C.F.R. §§ 350-

399. The FMCSR are primarily enforced at the roadside by individual states, which, in return for 

federal grants, adopt the FMCSR and enforce them (or equivalent state standards) under state 

law.  See 49 U.S.C. § 31102; 49 C.F.R. pt. 350.  See also National Tank Truck Carriers, Inc. v. 

Federal Highway Admin., 170 F.3d 203, 205 (D.C. Cir. 1999) (NTTC) (noting that “the 

individual states are the primary enforcers of the highway safety regulations at roadside 

inspection.”).  The FMCSR governing the grant program include requirements to collect and 

report motor carrier safety data into federal data systems.  See 49 C.F.R. § 350.201. 

Pursuant to 49 U.S.C. § 31106, the FMCSA operates and maintains a database known as 

the Motor Carrier Management Information System (MCMIS) that contains information relating 

to the safety records of commercial truck drivers and motor carriers including crash, inspection, 
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compliance review, and enforcement information.  (Complaint ¶ 1).1  In 2005, Congress 

mandated the creation of an electronic system to provide the motor carrier drivers’ crash and 

inspection reports in the MCMIS database to persons conducting pre-employment screening 

services.  Safe, Accountable, Flexible, Efficient, Transportation Equity Act: A Legacy for Users 

(SAFETEA-LU), § 4117(a), Pub. L. 109-59, 119 Stat.1144, 1728-1729 (2005) (codified at 49 

U.S.C. § 31150). Section 31150, entitled “Safety performance history screening” states:  

(a) IN GENERAL. The Secretary of Transportation shall provide persons 
conducting preemployment screening services for the motor carrier industry 
electronic access to the following reports contained in the Motor Carrier 
Management Information System: 
 

   (1) Commercial motor vehicle accident reports. 
   (2) Inspection reports that contain no driver-related safety violations. 
   (3) Serious driver-related safety violation inspection reports. 

 
(b) CONDITIONS ON PROVIDING ACCESS. Before providing a person access 
to the Motor Carrier Management Information System under subsection (a), the 
Secretary shall— 
 

(1) ensure that any information that is released to such person will be in 
accordance with the Fair Credit Reporting Act (15 U.S.C. 1681 et seq.) 
and all other applicable Federal law; 
(2) ensure that such person will not conduct a screening without the 
operator-applicant's written consent; 
(3) ensure that any information that is released to such person will not be 
released to any person or entity, other than the motor carrier requesting the 
screening services or the operator-applicant, unless expressly authorized 
or required by law; and 
(4) provide a procedure for the operator-applicant to correct inaccurate 
information in the System in a timely manner. 

 
(c) DESIGN. The process for providing access to the Motor Carrier Management 
Information System under subsection (a) shall be designed to assist the motor 
carrier industry in assessing an individual operator's crash and serious safety 
violation inspection history as a preemployment condition. Use of the process 
shall not be mandatory and may only be used during the preemployment 
assessment of an operator-applicant. 

                                                           
1
 This statutory authority to establish information systems and data analysis to support motor carrier safety 

programs, was granted by 1994 legislation, amended in 1998, 2005, and 2012.   
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(d) SERIOUS DRIVER-RELATED SAFETY VIOLATION DEFINED. In this 
section, the term "serious driver-related violation" means a violation by an 
operator of a commercial motor vehicle that the Secretary determines will result 
in the operator being prohibited from continuing to operate a commercial motor 
vehicle until the violation is corrected. 
 

(Added Aug. 10, 2005, P.L. 109-59, Title IV, Subtitle A, § 4117(a), 119 Stat. 1728.) 

On March 8, 2010, FMCSA initiated the electronic Pre-employment Screening Program 

(PSP) through a Statement of Records Notice (SORN) under the Privacy Act, which announced 

FMCSA’s proposal to establish a system of records, as required by 49 U.S.C.  § 31150.2  

FMCSA sent a report to Congress and the Office of Management and budget pursuant to 5 

U.S.C. §552a(r), informing Congress of the Agency’s establishment of the PSP system of 

records, and the extent and scope of that system.  Id. at 10555.  The SORN also referenced a 

Privacy Impact Assessment (PIA) subsequently published on April 14, 2010.  The 2010 SORN 

stated that: 

The system of records will make crash and inspection data about 
commercial motor vehicle (CMV) drivers rapidly available to CMV 
drivers (operator-applicants) and prospective employers of those drivers 
(motor carriers), via a secure Internet site, as an alternative to requiring 
them to submit a Freedom of Information Act (FOIA) request or Privacy 
Act request to FMCSA for the data.  
 

75 Fed. Reg. 10554.  

The 2010 SORN and PIA identified the name and location of the new system of records, 

the categories of individuals covered by the system, and the categories of records that would be 

maintained in the system.  Id. at 10555.  The  SORN provided notice that “[e]ach month,  

                                                           
2 75 Fed. Reg. 10554, 2010 WL 752157 (Mar. 8, 2010).  The SORN had an effective date of April 7, 2010, and 
stated that written comments should be submitted on or before that date.  In December 2009, DOT had published a 
SORN to modify MCMIS under the Privacy Act. 74 Fed. Reg. 66391(Dec. 15, 2009). The SORN provided notice 
that MCMIS would release driver crash and inspection records to requesting motor carriers with the driver's written 
consent, under the PSP system. (Complaint ¶ 37)  
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FMCSA  will provide the PSP contractor with a current MCMIS data extract containing the most 

recent five (5) years’ crash data and the most recent three (3) years inspection information.”  Id. 

The personably identifiable information (PII) contained in the MCMIS data extracts transmitted 

to PSP was also identified.  Id.  FMCSA subsequently modified the PSP system of records in a 

Federal Register Notice published on July 19, 2012, 77 Fed. Reg. 42548, 42551, 2012 WL 

2920621 (July 19, 2012)(Notice to amend a system of records), reiterating the same Privacy Act 

protections and requirements.  Id.  

FMCSA identified the purposes for use of PII in the PSP system as the need “[ “[t]o 

make CMV crash and inspection data records available to operator-applicants and motor carriers 

upon receipt of validated access requests and fee payments,”  75 Fed. Reg. at 10556.   FMCSA 

documented the overarching purpose of PSP:  to enhance safety by “making this driver data 

available to potential employers and owner-applicants” to “improve the quality of safety data and 

help employers make more informed decisions when hiring commercial drivers.”  77 Fed. Reg. 

at 42549, 42550.3  

The 2012 Federal Register Notice provided notice of five major modifications to the PSP 

system of records. The 2012 SORN again describes the PSP record as containing “the most 

recent five years of crash data and the most recent three years of roadside inspection data, 

including serious safety violations for an individual driver.”  Id.   

The PSP system may only be used for preemployment screening purposes and its use for 

such purpose is not mandatory.  49 U.S.C. § 31150(c).   Drivers and motor carriers pay a $10 fee 

per report to access data in PSP (Complaint ¶ 43), and “[m]otor carriers may continue to request 

                                                           
3 See e.g. “Analysis Brief:  Safety Analysis and Industry Impacts of the Pre-employment Screening Program,” 
http://www.fmcsa.dot.gov/facts-research/art-public-reports.aspx,  
e.g.  http://ntl.bts.gov/lib/51000/51200/51258/13-003-PSP-Safety-Impact.pdf . 
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the information from FMCSA under FOIA and operator-applicants may continue to receive their 

own safety performance data free of charge by submitting a Privacy Act request to FMCSA.”  75 

Fed. Reg. at 10555.  The $10 fee is paid to an FMCSA contractor under a no-cost contract that 

permits a qualified person to more quickly obtain the information that would otherwise be 

requested with no fee through the FOIA process.  Id. 4 

In July 2012, the PSP contractor for DOT implemented a mandatory written consent 

document for all PSP account holders. See PSP Drive Consent Form, attached to this 

memorandum5 (While written consent was always required prior to a PSP release of driver crash 

and inspection records, FMCSA had not previously mandated the form of the document).  In July 

2012, the PSP contractor communicated the mandatory use of the Consent Form to all of its 

current account-holders and made it part of the account holder agreement.  Pursuant to the 

mandatory consent form, the driver authorizes the named motor carrier to access the PSP system 

to seek information regarding the driver’s commercial driving record and safety inspection 

record for pre-employment screening purposes.  The form indicates that the driver understands 

that he/she is “consenting to the release of safety performance information including crash data 

from the previous five (5) years and inspection history from the previous three (3) years,” and 

that “this release of information may assist the Prospective Employer to make a determination 

regarding my suitability as an employee.”  Id.
6
   

 

                                                           
4
 The SORNs provide that a driver’s crash and inspection data is made available to the motor carrier on the 

condition that it certify under penalty of perjury for each request that the information was for pre-employment 
purposes only and that written consent of the driver had been obtained.  See 75 Fed. Reg. at 10556, 77 Fed. Reg. at 
42551.  The SORNs further require that motor carriers maintain each driver’s signed written consent form for five 
(5) years and maintenance of these records are subject to random audits by FMCSA or the FMCSA contractor.  Id.   
 
5 See the form also at  https://www.psp.fmcsa.dot.gov/psp/Documents/MandatoryPSPDriverConsentForm.pdf. 
6
 The form states that prospective employers are required to inform the driver if final adverse action is taken based 

on the prospective employee’s driving history or safety report.  
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ARGUMENT 

I. The Complaint Should Be Dismissed for Lack of Subject Matter Jurisdiction 
Because It Does Not Allege Constitutional Injury  

 

Defendants request dismissal of the Complaint for lack of subject-matter jurisdiction 

pursuant to Rule 12(b)(1), Federal Rules of Civil Procedure, because the Complaint fails to 

allege injury in fact caused by the Defendants.  In order to establish standing under Article III of 

the Constitution, the Complaint is required to allege facts sufficient to establish a particularized 

injury.  See Lujan v. Defenders of Wildlife, 504 U.S. 555, 560 & n.1 (1992).  Absent allegations 

of a concrete injury in fact, plaintiffs lack standing to pursue a claim, since standing is a 

“constitutional precondition to the jurisdiction of a federal court.”  United States v. AVX Corp., 

962 F.2d 113 (1st Cir. 1992).  See Steel Co. v. Citizens for Better Environment, 523 U.S. 83, 102-

104 (1998) (“. . . . there must be alleged (and ultimately proven) an “injury in fact” – a harm 

suffered by the plaintiff that is “concrete” and “actual or imminent, not ‘conjectural’ or 

hypothetical.’” . . . [and] there must be causation – a fairly traceable connection between the 

plaintiff’s injury and the complained-of conduct by the defendant. . . .”).  Article III standing 

requires that “a plaintiff . . . allege personal injury fairly traceable to the defendant’s allegedly 

unlawful conduct and likely to be redressed by the requested relief.”  See Allen v. Wright, 468 

U.S. 737, 751 (1984).   A “mere interest” in the case, “no matter how passionate or sincere the 

interest and no matter how charged with public import the event” cannot by itself meet Article 

III’s requirement.”  AVX Corp., 962 F.2d at 114, citing Diamond v. Charles, 476 U.S. 54, 62 

(1986).   And the allegation of a deprivation of a procedural right “without some concrete 

interest that is affected by the deprivation” is insufficient to establish standing.  See Summers v. 

Earth Island Institute, 555 U.S. 488, 496 (2009).  The Court cannot proceed to the merits of a 
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case without assuring itself of its jurisdiction; see Lance v. Coffman, 549 U.S. 437, 439 (2007).  

“[T]he existence of subject-matter jurisdiction ‘is never presumed.”” Fafel v. Dipaola, 399 F.3d 

403, 410 (1st Cir. 2005) (quoting Viqueira v. First Bank, 140 F.3d 12, 16 (1st Cir. 1998).  The 

burden to establish the requisite standing “lies with the party invoking federal jurisdiction.”  

Mangual v. Rotger-Sabat, 317 F.3d 45, 56 (1st Cir. 2003) (“The necessity to establish 

constitutional standing is rooted in the case or controversy requirement of the Constitution. . . . 

whether the plaintiff has alleged such a personal stake in the outcome of the controversy as to 

warrant his invocation of federal court jurisdiction and to justify exercise of the court’s remedial 

powers on his behalf,” quoting Baker v. Carr, 369 U.S. 186, 204 (1962)).  See also, Murphy v. 

United States, 45 F.3d 520, 522 (1st Cir. 1995), quoting Taber Partners I v. Merit Builders, Inc., 

987 F.2d 57, 60 (1st Cir. 1993). 

Plaintiffs do not allege that they have suffered a concrete injury.  The Complaint merely 

alleges that each plaintiff has suffered “disparage[ment] of . . . [his] qualifications for 

employment.”  Complaint ¶ ¶ 23 D and E and et seq.  The “disparagement” complained of is 

inclusion of driver safety violations in the PSP database that are not one of the categories of 

information set forth in 49 U.S.C. § 31150(a).  The Complaint does not allege that Plaintiffs’ 

ability to earn a living as a commercial motor vehicle operator has actually been impaired.   

Indeed, the Complaint does not even allege that the PSP program sent this, or any information, to 

Plaintiff’s prospective employers.  Under these circumstances, Plaintiffs’ interest in FMSCA’s 

policy of including all safety-related violations in the PSP database fails to meet their Article III 

standing requirements. 

 

 

Case 1:14-cv-13040-FDS   Document 14   Filed 10/24/14   Page 9 of 22



10 
 

 

II. The Complaint Should Be Dismissed for Failure to State a Claim 

For Which Relief May be Granted Because the Agency Complied 

With All Privacy Act Requirements. 

 

A Complaint must be dismissed pursuant to Rule 12(b)(6), Federal Rules of Civil 

Procedure, if it does not set forth “a short and plain statement of the claim showing that plaintiff 

is entitled to relief.”  Rule 8(a)(2), Federal Rules of Civil Procedure; Ocasio-Hernandez v. 

Fortuno-Burset, 640 F.3d 1 (1st Cir. 2011), including “enough facts to state a claim to relief that 

is plausible on its face.” Bell Atlantic Corp. v. Twombly, 550 U.S. 544, 570 (2007) (emphasis 

added).  Plaintiffs are required to set forth sufficient factual matter to show “more than a sheer 

possibility” of liability and that they are thus entitled to relief.  Ashcroft v. Iqbal, 556 U.S. 662, 

678 (2009); Rodriguez-Ramos v. Hernandez-Gregorat, 685 F.3d 34, 40 (1st Cir. 2012); Ocasio-

Hernandez, 640 F.3d at 12.  

A.   This Court Should Accord Chevron Deference to the Agency’s 

  Reasonable Interpretation of Section 31150.  

Under Chevron and its progeny, courts review an agency’s construction of the statute 

which it administers under a two-step process.  City of Arlington v. FCC, 133 S.Ct. 1863, 1868 

(2013)(citing Chevron, 467 U.S. at 842).  

First, applying the ordinary tools of statutory construction, the court must 

determine "whether Congress has directly spoken to the precise question at 

issue. If the intent of Congress is clear, that is the end of the matter; for the 

court, as well as the agency, must give effect to the unambiguously 

expressed intent of Congress." Id., at 842-843, 104 S. Ct. 2778, 81 L. Ed. 2d 

694. But "if the statute is silent or ambiguous with respect to the specific 

issue, the question for the court is whether the agency's answer is based on a 

permissible construction of the statute." Id., at 843, 104 S. Ct. 2778, 81 L. 

Ed. 2d 694. 
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Id.  “No matter how it is framed, the question a court faces when confronted with an agency's 

interpretation of a statute it administers is always, simply, whether the agency has stayed within 

the bounds of its statutory authority," Id.  The “view of the agency charged with administering 

the statute is entitled to considerable deference;” Chem. Mfrs. Ass'n v. NRDC, 470 U.S. 116, 125 

(1985), and such deference applies equally to statutes containing language that  curtails the scope 

of agency discretion.  See City of Arlington, 133 S.Ct. at 1872, citing to Chem. Mfrs. Ass’n, 470 

U.S. at 123.  To sustain the agency’s interpretation, the Court need not find that it is the only 

permissible construction that the agency might have adopted, but only that the Agency’s 

understanding is sufficiently rational such that it should preclude a court from substituting its 

judgment for that of the agency. Chem. Mfrs. Ass'n, 470 U.S. at 125, (citing to Train v. NRDC, 

421 U.S. 60, 75, 87 (1975); see also Chevron U. S. A. Inc. v. NRDC, 467 U.S. at 837.  “Of 

course, if Congress has clearly expressed an intent contrary to that of [the agency] the court’s 

duty is to enforce the will of Congress”.  Id., citing Chevron at 843, n. 9; SEC v. Sloan, 436 U.S. 

103, 117-18 (1978). 

Section 31150 identifies three types of MCMIS records that the Agency is required to make 

available for pre-employment screening purposes through an electronic access system, 

specifically: (1) commercial vehicle accident reports; (2) inspection reports that contain no 

driver-related safety violations; and (3) serious driver-related safety violation reports.”  49 

U.S.C. § 31150(a)(1-3).   While the statute states that the Secretary “shall” provide electronic 

access to the listed information for pre-employment screening, the statute is silent on the 

agency’s existing and long-standing authority to provide safety records with a driver’s consent. 

Congress’ mandate to “design” an electronic access system that would allow voluntary access 

with a driver’s consent to a prospective employee’s commercial driving safety history was not a 
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grant of new authority and mirrored the Agency’s existing authority to release protected 

information in compliance with applicable Federal law, including the Privacy Act.  Congress has 

long granted the Secretary broad power, in carrying out motor carrier safety statutes and 

regulations, to “prescribe recordkeeping and reporting requirements” and to “perform other acts 

the Secretary considers appropriate.  See Motor Carrier Safety Act of 1984, Pub. L. No. 98-554, 

Title II, § 211, 98 Stat. 2832 (1984); see also 49 U.S.C. § 31133(a)(8), (10). 

It is significant that motor carrier employers, with a driver’s written consent, have always 

been able to obtain a driver’s complete safety and inspection record from MCMIS under the 

Freedom of Information Act (FOIA), 5 U.S.C. § 552, and Privacy Act, pursuant to regulations 

issued by the Secretary pursuant to these Federal laws.  See 49 C.F.R. Part 7 (DOT regulations 

implementing FOIA) and Part 10 (DOT regulations implementing the Privacy Act).  As noted 

above, FMCSA has been collecting this type of safety information on commercial motor carriers 

and drivers for decades pursuant to the Motor Carrier Safety Act of 1984, and during this time 

has had the authority to release such information to a prospective employer when a driver 

provided consent under 5 U.S.C. § 552a(b).  And even before FMCSA established electronic 

data systems, FMCSA, by regulation, established detailed requirements for motor carrier driver 

job applications and motor carrier investigations and inquiries, as part of the hiring process.  

FMCSA historically has instructed motor carrier employers to conduct both mandatory and 

permissive background investigations concerning a prospective driver’s prior safety history.  See 

49  C.F.R. §§ 391.21 and 391.23 (requiring drivers to list three years of prior employers on job 

applications and prospective employers to investigate a driver’s safety performance history for 

the preceding three years).  The FMCSR has, for years, required employers to obtain a driver’s 

State motor vehicle  license record for the preceding three years and “to investigate the driver’s 
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safety performance history with Department of Transportation regulated  employers” also for the 

preceding three years.  49 C.F.R. § 391.23(a)(1) and (2). This includes much of the same 

information that the Agency is now providing employers with the opportunity to obtain in a more 

expeditious and reliable manner7 under the PSP. 

Section 31150 facilitated such pre-employment screening by establishing a more reliable and 

expeditious means of conducting background investigations, albeit one that is voluntary.  The 

statute reflected Congress’ continuing focus on strengthening commercial truck and driver safety 

to ensure that motor carriers have the information needed to hire safe drivers.  Congress has, as 

noted, granted the Secretary broad power, in carrying out motor carrier safety statutes and 

regulations, to “prescribe recordkeeping and reporting requirements” and to “perform other acts 

the Secretary considers appropriate.”  See Motor Carrier Safety Act of 1984, Pub. L. No. 98-554, 

Title II, § 211, 98 Stat. 2832 (1984); see also 49 U.S.C. § 31133(a)(8), (10).  Cf. of the Moving 

Ahead for Progress in the 21st Century Act (MAP-21), Pub. L. No. 112-141, § 32402, 126 Stat. 

405, codified at 49 U.S.C. § 31306(a).8   

  FMCSA interpreted Congress’ intent to facilitate informed hiring decisions by motor 

carriers through use of a secure, electronic system that provides access to a commercial driver’s 

MCMIS records with their consent, as adding to, rather than limiting, the Agency’s existing 

statutory authority to release driver safety information.  Accordingly, with the driver’s consent, 

FMCSA provides electronic access to five years of crash records and three years of inspection 

records, including both serious driver-related safety violations and other violations contained in 
                                                           
7
 Under the FMCSR, the employer’s background investigation largely depended on the job applicant providing an 

accurate list of their prior DOT-regulated employers.   
8
 Section 32402 titled the Safe Roads Act, Congress, further emphasizes its concern with adequate pre-employment 

investigations and the need for employers to be able to access driver information from a reliable source. The Act 
requires the Secretary to establish a Clearinghouse for driver positive drug and alcohol test violations, which, once 
established, would require mandatory reporting and review by motor carrier employers before a driver with a 

commercial driver’s license could be hired.  49 U.S.C. 31306(a). 
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roadside inspection reports.  See FMCSA PSP website, “PSP – Making Roads Safer One Hire at 

a Time,” https://www.psp.fmcsa.dot.gov/psp/default.aspx.  FMCSA articulated the safety 

rationale for providing this information in PSP, stating that: 

Developing a system to make safety performance information electronically 
available for pre-employment screening purposes was mandated by Congress in 
the Safe, Accountable, Flexible, Efficient Transportation Equity Act: A Legacy 
for Users, Title 49 U.S. Code, section 31150 Public Law 109-59 Section 4117. 
FMCSA believes that making this driver data available to potential employers, 
industry service providers, and drivers will improve the quality of safety data and 
help employers make more informed decisions when hiring commercial drivers. 
PSP provides more rapid access to commercial driver safety performance 
information than is available via Freedom of Information Act (FOIA) or Privacy 
Act requests.  
 

Id. (FAQ: Why did FMCSA develop PSP?).    

          At the heart of Plaintiffs’ Complaint is the assertion that FMSCA violated Section 

31150 by allowing potential employer access to non-serious safety violations in the PSP 

system, in addition to the serious driver-related safety violations covered by Section 

31150.  On this issue Plaintiffs are simply wrong. FMSCA has broad discretion under 

Section 31150 and related statutes.  The exercise of that discretion is reviewable only 

under the familiar two-step analysis of Chevron. Specifically, while Section 31150 

mandates that the Secretary afford access to potential employers for serious violations 

(with the potential employee’s written consent), nothing in Section 31150 purports to 

limit the Secretary’s existing authority  and exercise of  discretion to provide more 

complete driver safety records with the potential employee’s written consent and in 

accordance with Federal laws.  In view of Section 31150’s silence and resulting 

ambiguity concerning whether it provided a floor or a ceiling for the types of information 

that could be provided, FMCSA was justified in interpreting the congressional mandate 

to allow it to continue to provide comprehensive safety records for pre-employment 
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purposes with the driver’s consent and in compliance with existing Federal laws.  Under 

“step two” of the Chevron analysis, the Secretary’s decision to include access for non-

serious violations is a “permissible” construction of Section 31150 as it is fully consistent 

with the purposes of the statute to provide adequate information to motor carrier 

employers in making pre-employment decisions. These regulations have, for years, 

required employers to obtain a driver’s State  motor vehicle  license record for the 

preceding three years and “to investigate the driver’s safety performance history with 

Department of Transportation regulated  employers,” also for the preceding three years.   

At all times, FMCSA provided clear notice in the SORNs and the mandatory consent 

form that PSP reports would include three years of inspection records.  Such records 

include violations such as speeding, hours of service violations, and red light violations, 

that while not falling under the definition of a serious driver-related safety violation in 

section 31150(d), provide valuable safety information for prospective employers to 

consider or not consider in making informed employment decisions.  The decision to 

include these inspection reports in PSP is within FMSCA’s discretion, did not exceed the 

scope of FMSCA’s authority under FOIA and the Privacy Act. 

B.  Plaintiffs Consented to Release of their PSP Reports Containing 

Three Years of Inspection Records.  

 

The Complaint should also be dismissed because it alleges no facts to support its claim that 

FMCSA willfully and intentionally violated the Privacy Act.  Section 552a(b) of the Privacy Act 

provides that “[n]o agency shall disclose . . . except pursuant to a written request by, or with the 

prior written consent of, the individual to whom the record pertains [subject to 12 exceptions].” 5 

U.S.C. § 552a(b).  Plaintiffs consented, in writing, to release of all information contained in the 

PSP reports at issue, and thus, no Privacy Act violation occurred.  

Case 1:14-cv-13040-FDS   Document 14   Filed 10/24/14   Page 15 of 22



16 
 

The Office of Management and Budget (OMB) has set forth the requirements of informed 

consent, providing that, “[a]t a minimum, the consent clause should state the general purposes 

for, or types of recipients [to,] which disclosure may be made.” OMB Guidelines, 40 Fed. Reg. at 

28,954.  The FMCSA mandatory consent form required for release of a PSP report to a 

prospective employer clearly states both the nature of the records being disclosed, the general 

purposes for the disclosure and the recipient of the disclosure.  The consent form, which must be 

signed and must identify the prospective employer.  See Motors Carriers’ Consent Form, 

attachment to this memorandum.  The mandatory Consent Form explicitly informs the driver that 

the PSP report released to the employer will contain “three years of inspection records” for the 

express purpose of assisting a prospective employer in making a determination regarding the 

driver’s suitability as an employee.   It fully meets the OMB requirements. 

Plaintiffs consented to the records released through PSP, including records that were not 

serious driver-related violations.  Accordingly, Plaintiffs fail to state a violation under 5 U.S.C. 

§ 552a(b) by FMCSA’s release of inspection records to prospective employers with driver 

consent. 

C. The Release of Information Complies with the Routine Uses Exception in 

§ 552a(b)(3). 

 

FMCSA also complies with  the Privacy Act requirements for disclosing records pursuant 

to a routine use, as defined in 5 U.S.C. § 552a(a)(7) and as described in 552a(d)(4). 5 U.S.C.                

§ 552a(b)(3).  Under Section 552a(b), there are twelve exceptions where prior written consent of 

the individual is not required in order for an agency to disclose records about an individual.  See 

5 U.S.C. §§ 552a(b)(1)–(12).  Specifically, Section 552a(b)(3) “permits disclosure of personal 

records for a routine use, if, first, ‘compatible with the purpose for which the record was 

collected,’ and, second, if in accordance with a routine use notice published by the agency in the 
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Federal Register, which describes the routine use, the categories of users, and the purpose of 

such use.”  See Fed. Labor Relations Auth. v. U.S. Dept. of Navy, Naval Communications Unit 

Cutler, E. Machias, Me., 941 F.2d 49, 58 (1st Cir. 1991) (quoting 5 U.S.C. § 552a(b)(3)). In 

short, the two requirements for proper “routine use” include (1) Federal Register publication 

(providing Plaintiffs with constructive notice) and (2) compatibility. 

1. FMCSA Met the Federal Register Publication 

And Notice Requirement. 

 

To qualify as a “routine use,” Section 552(e)(4)(D) requires publication in the Federal 

Register of a SORN detailing “each routine use of records contained in the system, including (1) 

categories of users and (2) the purpose of such use.” Id.
9
  The scope of the publication is 

confined to the published definition; disclosure must fall within clear terms of routine use. See 

Doe v. Naval Air Station, Pensacola, Fla., 768 F.2d 1229, 1231-32 (11th Cir. 1985).  However, 

an agency’s construction of its routine use is entitled to deference.  Dep’t of the Air Force, Scott 

Air Force Base, Ill. V. FLRA, 104 F.3d 1396, 1402 (D.C. Cir. 1997). 

Here, FMCSA met this first requirement when it published a SORN in the Federal 

Register in March 2010—later modified in July 2012—where FMCSA announced the system of 

records established for PSP system.  The 2010 SORN detailed the categories of users and 

individuals covered by the system and the categories of records to be maintained in the system. 

75 Fed. Reg. at 10,555.  Further, the 2010 SORN provided that information maintained in the 

MCMIS database included data containing crash data and inspection information.  In addition to 

                                                           
9
 See 63 ADMIN. L. REV. 893 (2011) (“To qualify as a routine use, a disclosure must be 

‘appropriate and necessary for the efficient conduct of government,’ and the use must be 
compatible with the purpose for which the information was collected.  To establish routine uses, 
an agency can publish a ‘systems of records of notice’ [SORN] in the Federal Register . . . This 
notice helps to comply with the Privacy Act and, along with the Privacy Impact Assessment, it 
helps explain aspects of the system including how data is collected, assessed, and disclosed.”). 
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implementing a written consent form, discussed above, the 2012 SORN describes the release of 

information in the PSP as a routine use. Together, these SORNs show that FMCSA met Section 

552(e)(4)(D)’s publication and notice requirement, permitting disclosure as a routine use 

exception under the Privacy Act.  In addition, with respect to Plaintiffs’ claims, the SORN 

explicitly provided Plaintiffs with notice as to the breadth of information that would be released, 

to whom, and for the specific purpose of pre-employment screening.   

2. FMCSA Met The Compatibility Requirement. 

Second, to qualify as a “routine use,” Section 552a(a)(7) requires that disclosure be 

compatible with the purpose for which the records were collected.  See 5 U.S.C. § 552a(a)(7); 

Alexander v. FBI, 691 F. Supp. 2d 182,192,  (D.D.C. 2010).  Compatibility encompasses (1) 

functionally equivalent uses and (2) other uses that are necessary and proper.  OMB Guidelines, 

52 Fed. Reg. 12,990.10 

The routine use for PSP aligns with the purpose for which FMCSA collects roadside 

inspection and crash information in MCMIS, FMCSA’s safety mission and charge of helping 

prevent crashes and increase road safety by enabling employers’ ability to make more informed 

                                                           
10

 See Britt v. Naval Investigative Serv., 886 F.2d 544  (3d Cir. 1989) (“There must be a 
more concrete relationship or similarity, some meaningful degree of convergence, between the 
disclosing agency’s purpose in gathering the information and its disclosure.” Id. at 547, See, e.g., 
Alexander, 691 F. Supp. 2d at 191 (finding disclosures by the FBI of the plaintiffs’ background 
reports to the White House to determine whether they were “sufficiently trustworthy to be 
granted access to the White House” were compatible with the purpose of the disclosures); 
Contursi v. USPS, No. 98CV112, slip op. at 2-3 (S.D. Cal. Jul. 6, 1999), aff’d  238 F.3d 428 (9th 
Cir. 2000) (finding disclosure to a county agency in response to its request in connection with 
investigation of an employee compatible); Jones v. Runyon, 32 F. Supp. 2d 873, 876 (N.D. W. 
Va. 1998) (finding disclosure to credit reporting service of information about plaintiff when 
requesting employment reports in course of routine investigation of possible workers’ 
compensation fraud compatible); Blazy v. Tenet, 979 F. Supp. 10, 26 (D.D.C. 1997) (finding 
CIA’s disclosure of information about employee to FBI while FBI was investigating employee’s 
application for FBI employment compatible). 
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decisions when hiring drivers, as well as providing incentives for motor carrier drivers to avoid 

law violations in carrying out their work.  See, e.g., 49 U.S.C. §§ 31100 and 31131 (Purpose 

Statements for Chapter 311, Subchapter I Commercial Motor Vehicle Safety, and Subchapter III 

– Safety Regulation).  

The 2012 SORN provides that a routine use of Plaintiffs’ records under 552a(b)(3) 

includes disclosures to “authorized industry service providers and motor carriers”  who “may use 

PSP records only for purposes of pre-employment safety screening of operator-applicants ….” 

77 Fed. Reg. at 42250 (July 19, 2012).  The SORN further states that  the purpose for the system 

is  to allow authorized operator-applicants and authorized industry service providers to access the 

safety records of motor carrier drivers, a purpose closely aligned and compatible with the 

purposes for which this data was initially collected pursuant to the Agency’s broad safety 

authority and mission.  The SORN explicitly links the compatibility of this purpose with the 

Agency’s safety mission, stating that: 

The FMCSA’s primary mission is to prevent commercial motor vehicle-related 
fatalities and injuries.  The FMCSA contributes to safe motor carrier 
operations through strong enforcement of safety regulations; targeting high-
risk motor carriers and commercial motor vehicle drivers; improving safety 
information systems and commercial motor vehicle technologies; . . . and 
increasing safety awareness.” 
 

77 Fed. Reg. at 42549.  FMCSA established a proper routine use for inclusion of all driver safety 

records in the PSP, and the Complaint should be dismissed for failure to state a claim. 

D. The Complaint Does Not Allege Adverse Effect or Actual Damages 
  As Required by the Privacy Act. 

As noted, the Privacy Act provides a cause of action for damages, if an agency “fails to 

comply with any other provision of this section . . . in such a way as to have an adverse effect on 

the individual [the individual may bring a civil action].” 49 U.S.C. § 552a(g)(1)(D).   Pursuant to 

the Privacy Act, “adverse effect” means actual damages and not mental or emotional distress.      
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5 U.S.C. § 552a(g)(4)(A); see, Doe, 540 U.S. at 627; Usher v. Sec’y of HHS, 721 F.2d 854, 856 

(1st Cir. 1983); see also FAA v. Cooper, 132 S. Ct. at 1451-52 (Privacy Act does not waive 

sovereign immunity for recovery of damages for mental or emotional harm, but only for 

pecuniary or material harm).  See, Orekoya v. Mooney, 330 F.3d 1, 10 (1st Cir. 2003).  The 

Complaint does not meet this requirement because it fails to assert sufficient facts showing 

Plaintiffs suffered (1) an adverse effect (2) causally linked to any violation.   

As noted, Plaintiffs allege the injury of “disparagement”, but they allege no concrete facts 

showing that they suffered actual adverse effects.  Their “disparagement” allegations are 

generalities of pure speculation, for, as noted, they allege no facts regarding actual denials of 

employment caused by what they regard as improper inclusion of all of their safety violations in 

PSP records, or even, as noted, disclosure to prospective employers.   

 Plaintiffs may be asserting that they have “actual damages” because the PSP contractor 

charges the motor carrier drivers a $10.00 fee for providing them with the safety violations 

information, a fee that Plaintiffs characterize as “an economic and pecuniary burden upon drivers 

as a condition of securing and evaluating the PSP reports prepared for dissemination to potential 

employers of commercial motor vehicle drivers.”  Complaint ¶ 43. Plaintiffs appear to be 

alleging that they are required to pay this fee to watchdog safety violations that they may regard 

as “non-serious” violations that might appear on the PSP reports, certainly a matter of personal 

preference and not required under any circumstances.  But in any event, as noted, motor carrier 

drivers are able to obtain their MCMIS inspection records by making requests under FOIA 

without the payment of any fee.  This is the same information that is contained in the PSP report, 

the only difference being that the MCMIS record is generally more up-to-date and accurate than 
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reports from the PSP system, which is updated monthly.11  Plaintiffs, in paying a fee for their 

PSP Reports, elect to pay the nominal charge to obtain the information more quickly than 

through the FOIA process, which has always been and remains available to Plaintiffs and their 

prospective employers at no cost.   

Contrary to Plaintiffs’ claim, this voluntary expense cannot amount to actual damages.  

The allegation is that Plaintiffs are required to incur repeated $10 fee expenses because “drivers 

must purchase PSP reports on an ongoing basis,” due to possible new information about 

violations and older violations being deleted.  Complaint  ¶44.   However, even if this amounted 

to “damages” under the Privacy Act, a motor carrier driver has personal knowledge and notice of 

the motor carrier violations cited during roadside inspections in which, as the driver of the 

vehicle, he was physically present (and, hopefully, fully cognizant).  Indeed, law enforcement 

officers provide drivers with copies of inspection reports at the time of inspection and drivers are 

required to provide these reports to their motor carrier employers or, if self-employed, to address 

the violations as required by the regulations.  See 49 C.F.R. § 396.9(d). 

      The very purpose of the PSP is to allow prospective motor carrier employers to obtain, at a 

nominal cost, a driver’s inspection and crash history to be considered in the hiring process.  The 

availability of this information fulfills Congress’ purpose and FMCSA’s mission, which provides 

necessary incentive for Plaintiffs and other drivers to maintain satisfactory driving records.  This 

result is fully consistent with FMCSA’s statutory authority. 

 

 

                                                           
11

 The PSP records are updated on a monthly basis from MCMIS, while  MCMIS is continually 
updated with State inspection information.  
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CONCLUSION 

For the foregoing reasons, Defendants request that the Court dismiss the Complaint 

pursuant to Rule 12(b)(1) and (b)(6),  Federal Rules of Civil Procedure.  

 
Respectfully submitted,  

 
     

CARMEN M. ORTIZ 
United States Attorney 

 
     /s/  Anita Johnson      
     ANITA JOHNSON 
     Assistant U.S. Attorney 
     Moakley United States Courthouse, Ste. 9200 
     One Courthouse Way 
     Boston MA 02210 
     (617)748-3266 
     Anita.johnson@usdoj.gov 
 
OF COUNSEL: 

 
Paul M. Geier 
Assistant General Counsel for Litigation 
U.S. Department of Transportation 
 
T. F. Scott Darling III, Chief Counsel 
Fred K. Ford, Assistant Chief Counsel, Enforcement & Litigation 
 
Debra S. Straus, Senior Attorney 
Federal Motor Carrier Safety Administration 
1200 New Jersey Avenue, S.E. 
Washington, D.C. 20590 
 
 

Certificate of Service 
 

 I hereby certify that the foregoing will be filed through the electronic filing system of the 
Court, which system will serve electronically all counsel of record, on this 24th day of October 
2014.   
 
       /s/  Anita Johnson     
 
      

Case 1:14-cv-13040-FDS   Document 14   Filed 10/24/14   Page 22 of 22

mailto:Anita.johnson@usdoj.gov

